IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC00-1389

JOEL DALE WRIGHT,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR PUTNAM COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Special Assistant CCRC-South Florida Bar No. 0754773 9701 Shore Rd. Apt. 1-D Brooklyn, NY 11209 (718) 748-2332

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL FOR THE SOUTHERN REGION
101 N.E. 3rd Avenue
Suite 400
Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

INTRODUCTION

This is the story of justice gone awry, a young man convicted of a murder he did not commit, sentenced to death and left on death row for eighteen (18) years and still counting.¹

Lima Page Smith was found stabbed to death at 4:15 pm. on (R. 1628). Joel Dale Wright (Jody) lived next door to Ms. Smith with his family (R. 1583). Early in the police investigation, Jody was interviewed and cleared after Charles Westberry confirmed that Jody spent the early morning hours of February 6th sleeping on his living room couch (Douglas Depo. at 34).

Subsequently, Charles Westberry, while talking to his estranged wife, changed his story and claimed Joel Dale Wright arrived at his house much later and confessed the murder to him. The estranged wife told the deputy sheriff who she was dating of this conversation. After Charles was arrested and charged as an accessory to murder, he agreed to testify against Jody in return for immunity (PC-R2. 2415-17). On the basis of his testimony, Jody was convicted and sentenced to death.²

¹Interestingly, Dr. Harry Krop evaluated Jody Wright in 1988 (PC-R1. 1017-56). At the time that he testified in October of 1988, Dr. Krop had evaluated some 200 individuals who were capital defendants. Jody Wright was one of three whose MMPI results were completely within "normal" ranges. Dr. Krop found Jody Wright to be an intact person with no signs of sexual deviancy or sociopathic tendencies. Jody Wright did not fit the profile to which Dr. Krop had become accustom.

²Justice Blackmun in his dissent from the denial of a writ of certiorari said "this case comes down to Wright's word against Westberry's." Wright v. Florida, 474 U.S. 1094, 1097 (1986)(Blackmun, J., dissenting).

However, the jury never heard a wealth of evidence implicating Henry Jackson and Clayton Strickland in the murder of Ms. Smith.³ On February 4, 1983, Henry Jackson and Clayton Strickland were roommates and lived next door to Charlene Luce (PC-R2. 445, 2611). This was "about a block away" from Ms. Smith's residence (PC-R1. 965). On February 4th, Strickland approached Ms. Luce and told her that, even though Henry might kill him, he wasn't scared (PC-R2. 445).⁴ Ms. Luce then,

³The jury also did not hear certain undisclosed impeachment evidence regarding Charles Westberry. Besides the disclosed immunity on the accessory to murder charges, the prosecutor gave Charles "a limited grant of immunity" regarding the illegal scrap metal business that he and Jody had operated together (PC-R1. Charles has acknowledged that he was "scared of getting into trouble for this" (PC-R1. 652). And because Paige had knowledge of the illegal business, he was worried she may get into trouble too. This additional immunity was not disclosed to defense counsel (PC-R1. 652). Moreover, the prosecutor met with Charles on a daily basis in the week or so leading up to trial (PC-R1. 756, 758). The prosecutor wrote out Charles' answers to the questions that he intended to ask at trial (PC-R1. 763, 766). The prosecutor then "gave it to Charles Westberry prior to trial, asked him to review it, go over it, make sure what was there was the truth." (PC-R1. 757). Charles was instructed to return the written answers to the prosecutor prior to taking the stand (PC-R1. 759). Charles remained in jail until a week after his testimony when he was finally released (PC-R1. 701). In 1988, Charles testified that he had been given typed answers to read over in preparing to testify at Jody's trial (PC-R1. 670, 678). He still had the documents when he was released from jail, but subsequently was unable to find them (PC-R1. 669-70). The existence of these written answers was not disclosed to defense counsel at trial, and the written answers have never surfaced during the post-conviction process (PC-R1. 762).

⁴Henry Jackson had previously been convicted of a homicide (PC-R2. 2615-16). Jody Wright's prosecuting attorney, James Dunning, had represented Henry Jackson when Mr. Jackson was prosecuted for the homicide (PC-R2. 2432). Mr. Jackson also had a burglary conviction for burglarizing Earl Smith's house which was across the street from Ms. Smith's residence (PC-R2. 2432, 2434-35).

observed Jackson come outside into the yard brandishing a knife in his right hand (PC-R2. 445). The knife was a "pocket knife" with a blade "about three or four inches long" (PC-R2. 2626). Mr. Jackson was angry and was demanding money from Mr. Strickland (PC-R2. 445).

On February 5, 1983, Wanda Brown, a mail carrier, observed Ms. Smith outside her residence arguing with Mr. Strickland and Mr. Jackson and motioning for them to move away with her hand (PC-R2. 447, 2558). Mr. Strickland then shook his arm at Ms. Smith (PC-R2. 447). When Mr. Strickland saw Ms. Brown in her postal jeep, he ran in front of the vehicle forcing her to stop (PC-R2. 2559). He walked up to the door of the vehicle and demanded to know if she had his social security check (PC-R2. 2560). She indicated that "no, I don't have your check." He said "I need some money." She indicated that she had no mail for the Jackson mailbox (PC-R2. 447). He asked Ms. Brown to give him some money (PC-R2. 447). She became frightened by his demeanor and drove away. "I could smell the liquor. And it - - I was kind of scared, you know, I didn't really trust either one of them." (PC-R2. 2560). When she looked back she notice Ms. Smith "making a motion like that for them to go off" (PC-R2. 2560).

 $^{^5{\}rm The}$ evidence showed that Ms. Smith was in all likelihood stabbed by a right-handed person (R. 1739, 1816). Jody is left-handed.

⁶The stab wounds on Ms. Smith were consistent with a pocket knife - "a sharp-edged weapon about, oh, a half-an-inch in width and an eighth of an inch in thickness, and not particularly long" (R. 1822). Between 2:00 and 3:00 pm. on February 6, 1983, Clayton Strickland sold Earl Smith a pocket knife for \$5.00.

After Ms. Brown heard about Ms. Smith's murder, she called the sheriff's office and reported her observations. Two detectives went to her home on February 7, 1983, and took her statement (PC-R2. 2570).

After dark on the evening of February 5, 1983 (during the period that the medical examiner gave as the range in which the murder occurred), William Bartley observed Henry Jackson and Clayton Strickland standing in the vacant lot next to Ms. Smith's house, drinking (PC-R1. 1006-07, PC-R2. 2431).

Late in the afternoon on February 6, 1983, Kim Holt, a cashier at a local supermarket, saw a man she identified as Henry Jackson in her check out line. Mr. Jackson had fresh scratch marks on his face and "what appeared to be blood on him, fresh blood" (PC-R2. 2583). Ms. Holt was familiar with Jackson and the fact that he usually had no money. (PC-R2. 444). He announced "I got money today" (PC-R2. 444). He paid Ms. Holt with a one hundred dollar bill and showed her that he possessed another one (PC-R2. 2583). Mr. Jackson then asked Ms. Holt if she knew that

⁷James Dunning, the prosecutor, testified in 1988 that this document "should have been given" to defense counsel because it contained information that "may [be] considered [] favorable to the Defense" (PC-R1. 724-25).

⁸The medical examiner initially placed the time of Ms. Smith's death as occurring between 5:00 p.m. and 9:00 p.m. on Saturday, February 5th. It was only after Westberry changed his story on April 19th and claimed that Jody had confessed to doing the murder at 5:00 a.m. that the medical examiner expanded the time range to include 5:00 a.m. on Sunday, February 6th (R. 1852).

Ms. Smith had been killed (PC-R2. 444, 2583). As he was leaving, Ms. Holt noticed that it was 4:30 pm. (PC-R2. 444).

Between 4:30 pm. and 5:00 pm., Charlene Luce was called over to her fence by Henry Jackson who informed her that Ms. Smith had been killed (PC-R2. 2621). When Ms. Luce asked "why her," Mr. Jackson said that "Miss Smith told him that she didn't kept [sic] money at home" (PC-R2. 446). He also indicated that she once gave him a box of chocolates. Ms. Luce asked Mr. Jackson if he had killed Ms. Smith. In response, "he just turned real red in the face, and he looked at me real funny, and he turned and walked away" (PC-R2. 2622). Ms. Luce gave the sheriff's office a written statement regarding these events on February 9, 1983 (PC-R2. 445). 10

Sheriff officers interviewed Henry Jackson and Clayton Strickland on February 10, 1983. According to Jackson, the scratches on his face were from a fight Sunday night (February 6th) (PC-R1. 378). According to Strickland, he had last seen Ms. Smith on "Tuesday or Wednesday" of the previous week (PC-R1.

⁹Ms. Smith was found with a chocolate bar on her exposed abdomen.

 $^{^{10}}$ Mr. Dunning testified in 1988 that he did not remember whether he had this statement prior to trial, but if he had it, he "[c]ertainly" would have disclosed to defense counsel (PC-R1. 727). In fact, Mr. Dunning acknowledged that he would have been obligated to disclose it (<u>Id</u>.).

¹¹Of course, when Kim Holt was interviewed on February 28th, she indicated the scratches were already present at 4:30 pm.

379). According to Jackson, "we went to bed early" on Saturday, February 5th. According to Strickland, "Henry and I had been drinking a lot on Saturday and was pretty high. We went to bed around eight o'clock I guess. I didn't get up until Sunday morning and I made some coffee for Henry and I. Henry and I stayed at the trailer all morning" (PC-R1. 379).

In 1988, then Deputy Taylor Douglas testified that Jackson and Strickland were eliminated as suspects when they each passed a polygraph denying involvement in the murder ("And of course both of them had agreed to take a polygraph with no, no problem with that. And they ran very clean on the polygraph that neither of them was involved with the Lima Paige Smith murder.")(PC-R1. 964). In denying post-conviction relief, Judge Perry relied upon this testimony to conclude that the evidence implicating Jackson and Strickland was "highly speculative."

In 1997, Sheriff Taylor Douglas¹³ testified that he knew "Mr. Wright was" polygraphed, but beyond that he was not sure. He initially said as to Jackson and Strickland being polygraphed, "Possibility" (Douglas Depo, at 35). After refreshing his recollection, he listed those individuals who were polygraphed: Paul House, Charles Westberry, Jody Wright and Denise Easter (Douglas Depo at 39). Thus, the sole basis for excluding them as

¹²Wanda Brown in her February 7th statement had advised law enforcement that she had witnessed an encounter between Strickland and Ms. Smith on Saturday, February 5th.

¹³In the intervening years, Taylor Douglas had been elected Putnam County Sheriff.

suspects, according to the 1988 testimony, was revealed to be nonexistent. 14

None of the statements regarding Henry Jackson and Clayton Strickland were provided to defense counsel. Defense counsel has testified that he would have used these various statements at trial had he been aware of them (PC-R1. 808).

As it was Jody's jury heard none of the evidence implicating Henry Jackson and Clayton Strickland. However, a forensic examiner for FDLE testified that she found in a pubic hair combing from the victim, "one brown hair present which demonstrated some characteristics of caucasian pubic hair, but the hair was different from the hairs in the pubic hair standard from Smith." (R. 2080). The examiner compared this hair to

¹⁴In 1988, Taylor Douglas testified that he recalled that the police accounted for Jackson's possession of money and his scratched face because they determined that Jackson had done some tree trimming. However when pressed, Taylor Douglas had nothing to support this belief (PC-R1. 956). James Dunning testified that he had been advised that the sheriff's office had "substantiate[d] that the money he had came from a Social Security check he had cashed, and that the substance that was on him turned [out] to be paint as opposed to blood (PC-R1. 721). Initially, Captain Miller said that Jackson got the scratches while trimming trees. When confronted with Jackson's sworn statement, he acknowledged that Jackson's under oath statement indicated that "he got scratched at his sister's" during a fight (PC-R1. 1068). Captain Miller explained his previously stated belief as the result of his failure to "refresh[] my memory with these documents" (<u>Id</u>.). Of course, Jackson's sworn statement indicated that he got scratched Sunday night and did not explain how Kim Holt saw the scratches Sunday afternoon.

¹⁵ No hair was obtained from either Jackson nor Strickland for forensic comparisons to the hair found on Ms. Smith's body (PC-R1. 1003). No fingerprints comparisons were conducted between Jackson's and Strickland's known prints and the unidentified prints of value found at the crime scene (PC-R1. 1003, R. 2051).

known standards from Jody, "and the bottom line that we have here is that whatever that pubic hair was or whose ever it might have been, in the pubic hair found in the pubic hair of Miss Smith, [the examiner] could not match it with Jody Wright." (R. 2095). The examiner noted that the hair "demonstrated some characteristics of caucasian pubic hair. Wright's pubic hair standard demonstrated characteristics of caucasian pubic hair. They were different because one was characteristic of pubic hair, the other was not." (R. 2096). 16

Additionally, there were "[t]hree latent palm prints and one latent impression" from the footboard of Miss Smith's bed that were never matched to any known fingerprints (R. 2051, Exh. 47). However, comparisons with Jackson and Strickland were never made.

Jody maintained his innocence and did so when he testified in his own defense at his trial. Take the Waters, an individual in the courtroom listening to his testimony, realized that she had seen someone looking like Jody walking on the road to Charles Westberry's residence at precisely the time Jody said (R. 2613-17). After the evidence was closed, she contacted defense

¹⁶So, the hair had sufficient characteristics to be compared to Ms. Smith's known hair, and it was determined to not be hers. It also could not be matched to Jody, but the examiner buried this fact in language that was frequently nonsensical. The jury requested, but was not permitted, a read back of this testimony (R. 2899-2908).

¹⁷A fingerprint identified as Jody's had been found on Ms. Smith's stove (R. 2057). Jody acknowledged that he and Paul House had previously gone into Ms. Smith's home "to look around" (R. 2563). Paul House confirmed that he and Jody had gone into Ms. Smith's residence in January of 1982 without permission when Ms. Smith was not home (R. 2396).

counsel and advised him that she remembered driving some young people home after a church function at approximately 12:30 a.m. on February 6, 1983, and seeing someone who looked like Jody walking toward the trailer park where Charles Westberry resided (PC-R2. 2446). Judge Perry refused to allow the defense to call Ms. Waters as a witness saying it would rendered the sequestration rule meaningless if a witness could confer with others and then provide testimony which seemed almost "tailormade." (R. 2645, 2678).

Accordingly, Jody Wright despite his innocence of the crime was convicted of the murder of Lima Smith and sentenced to death.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 22, 1983, Joel Dale Wright was charged by indictment in Putnam County with one count of first degree murder, one count of sexual battery with great force, one count of burglary of a dwelling, and one count of grand theft of the second degree (R. 5). On April 23, 1983, Howard Pearl was appointed to represent Mr. Wright (PC-R2. 2406). The assigned prosecutor was James Dunning. Thereafter, Mr. Wright entered pleas of not guilty on all counts.

Trial commenced on August 22, 1983, before Judge Robert Perry 19 and on September 1, 1983, the jury returned guilty verdicts on each count (R. 688). 20

On September 2, 1983, the penalty phase proceeding began.

Later that same day, the jury returned a recommendation of death.

On September 23, 1983, Judge Perry imposed a sentence of death with regard to the murder count, 99 years on the sexual

 $^{^{18}}$ Mr. Dunning was suspended from the practice of law shortly before the 1988 evidentiary hearing, although the suspension was not disclosed by Mr. Dunning at the time of the evidentiary hearing (PC-R2. 1836, 2592, Exh. 45).

¹⁹On October 3, 1991, Judge Perry resigned his position as a circuit judge in settlement of judicial inquiry which alleged judicial improprieties (PC-R2. 2590-92, Exh. 44). The inquiry concerned judicial misconduct in 1988 and 1989 involving improper ex parte conduct and not displaying impartiality.

²⁰During the deliberations the jury asked for the testimony of Ms. Lasko, the FDLE technician who had conducted an analysis of hair found on Ms. Smith's body and was unable to match it to Jody Wright. The jury also asked for the testimony of Dr. Latimer, the medical examiner who concluded the assailant was probably right-handed. However, Judge Perry refused to provide the jury with the testimony (R. 2899-2908).

battery, 15 years on the burglary, and 5 years on the grand theft.

Mr. Wright's convictions and sentence of death were affirmed by this Court in 1985; this Court found the exclusion of Kathy Waters' testimony was error, but harmless. Wright v. State, 473 So. 2d 1277 (Fla. 1985), cert. denied, 474 U.S. 1094 (1986)(Blackmun, J., joined by Brennan, and Marshall, JJ, dissenting regarding this Court's determination that the trial court's decision to preclude Ms. Waters as a defense witness was harmless error).

Mr. Wright thereafter sought relief pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 on February 22, 1988. An evidentiary hearing commenced before Judge Robert Perry on October 3, 1988. 21

²¹One of the three prosecutors at the evidentiary hearing was Robert (Mac) McLeod. According to Charles Westberry, Mac McLeod advised him he did not have to talk to Mr. Wright's collateral counsel (PC-R1. 230). After that conversation, Mr. Westberry refused to talk to collateral counsel even though he had previously agreed to do so (PC-R1. 146).

Also in 1988, Robert McLeod handled the capital trial in Randall Scott Jones. At an evidentiary hearing in February of 2000, Robert McLeod testified that as a result of ex parte contact with Judge Perry, he prepared the sentencing findings that resulted in a sentence of death. He indicated that he did the same thing in the case of Manuel Colina who was also sentenced to death by Judge Perry. <u>Jones v. State</u>, Case No. SC00-1492, Post-conviction ROA 572). Colina's sentence of death was reversed on appeal for other reasons. <u>Colina v. State</u>, 570 So.2d 929 (Fla. 1990).

Another prosecutor at the 1988 Wright evidentiary hearing was John Alexander. Judge Perry's law clerk testified in an evidentiary hearing in 1998 that Mr. Alexander on ex parte basis participated in the 1989 drafting of sentencing findings imposing a death sentence upon Richard Randolph. Randolph v. State, Case No. SC93675, Post-conviction ROA 5344). In fact, the State in 1998 stipulated that a draft judgment and sentence came from the

On June 8, 1989, Judge Perry entered an order denying post-conviction relief. Judge Perry's decision was premised upon a factual finding that "Mr. Freddie Williams [Howard Pearl's investigator] testified that he was aware of the statements by Brown and Luce" (Wright v. State, 581 So.2d 882,883 (Fla. 1991)). 22 Relying upon Taylor Douglas' testimony that Jackson and Strickland were eliminated as suspects when they passed polygraph examinations, Judge Perry further stated: "Whether the statements were exculpatory in nature is highly speculative and thus, the claim is legally insufficient to support a claim under Brady" (581 So.2d at 883).

On June 22, 1989, Mr. Wright filed a motion for rehearing and a motion to amend regarding newly discovered evidence regarding Howard Pearl's status as a special deputy sheriff. On August 21, 1989, Judge Perry denied relief on the "Pearl" issue on the basis of the decision by another judge in another case in which an evidentiary hearing had been conducted.²³

State Attorney's file (Randolph, Post-conviction ROA 5313).

²²This Court quoted Judge Perry's order virtually verbatim in its opinion affirming on appeal.

²³Judge Perry did not reveal at this time or at any time while he presided over the case that he too was a special deputy sheriff in Putnam County (Pellicer Depo. at 19). Special deputy appointments were given to political allies of Sheriff Pellicer (Miller Depo. at 7). People like to have a "deputy card," "when they got stopped for speeding they pulled card [sic], you know, Oh, are you a deputy sheriff? Oh, yeah. Be careful, Sheriff, go ahead — a courtesy card, still call it that." (Pellicer Depo. at 20).

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