IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOEL DALE WRIGHT,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC00-1389

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR PUTNAM COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JUDY TAYLOR RUSH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #438847 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (386) 238-4990 Fax # (386) 226-0457 COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

TABLE	OF	CONT	CENTS	5.		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	. i
TABLE	OF	AUTH	HORIT	TIES		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	iii
STATEM	ENI	C OF	THE	CASI	ΞA	ND	FZ	ACI	ſS	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	. 1

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

POINT THREE: Wright failed to carry his burden to prove that the Trial Judge's status as a special deputy affected his performance in Wright's case. Moreover, this claim is beyond the scope of the remand. In any event, Wright failed to prove a conflict of interest of any kind. To the extent that Wright claims that Judge Perry had a standard *ex parte* practice of having the State prepare

the sentencing order in capital death penalty cases, that claim is procedurally barred because it is beyond the scope of the remand and could and should have been raised earlier. Moreover, it is barred because it was not raised in the trial court. Finally, he has utterly failed to establish any factual basis for this bald assertion, and it is both legally insufficient and meritless.

POINT IV: Wright's claim that he was sentenced by a judge whose standard practice was to have the State draft the sentencing order is beyond the scope of the remand, could and should have been raised earlier, and was not presented to the lower court. It is, therefore, procedurally barred. Moreover, Wright failed to present any factual basis for this claim, and it is, therefore, both legally insufficient and meritless.

POINT V: Wright's claim that the lower court violated his due process rights by failing to timely rule on his motion to depose the trial judge is beyond the scope of the remand and was not presented to the lower court. Therefore, the claim is procedurally barred. Moreover, the record does not factually support the claim, and indicates to the contrary. In any event, Wright has failed to carry his burden to show that the lower court abused his discretion in failing to order the deposition. Neither has he shown prejudice.

<u>POINT VI</u>: Wright's claim that he suffered harmful error under *Sochor* is barebones and frivolous. It is procedurally barred

because it is beyond the scope of the remand. This Court already ruled on the imposition of the death penalty after striking the aggravator, and properly concluded that the three remaining aggravators outweighed the dearth of mitigation and that the death penalty was appropriate. The time for rehearing of that decision is long since gone.

Wright is entitled to no relief.

ARGUMENT I

WRIGHT HAS FAILED TO CARRY HIS BURDEN TO ESTABLISH THAT THE STATE FAILED TO DISCLOSE MATERIAL AND EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE OR THAT IT PRESENTED MISLEADING EVIDENCE; NEITHER HAS HE ESTABLISHED THAT HIS TRIAL ATTORNEY WAS INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO DISCOVER AND PRESENT EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE.

Wright's first point on appeal was designated Claim II "no adversarial testing" in the lower court. (See R 1138). On appeal, Wright claims that he did not receive the cumulative analysis he was entitled to under Lightbourne v. State, 742 So. 2d 238 (Fla. 1999), which he claims presented similar circumstances to his case. (IB 53). Wright alleges two problems tainted this Court's decision on his Rule 3.850 motion, to-wit: Wright received public records information after the initial post-conviction proceeding which "further supported" his "claims for a new trial," and Judge Perry's order denying the initial motion was based on a false fact regarding Freddie Williams. (IB 55-56).

This claim is procedurally barred because it is beyond the scope of the remand, and so, is not properly before this Honorable Court. See Mendyk v. State, 707 So. 2d 320, 322 (Fla. 1997). See also Jennings v. State, 782 So. 2d 853, 861 (Fla. 2001). This Court remanded this case for one issue only, i.e., "an evidentiary hearing on whether Wright's public defender's service as a special deputy sheriff affected his ability to provide effective legal assistance." Wright, 581 So. 2d at 887. Thus, the first issue

raised in this appeal is procedurally barred because it was not authorized by this Court in its order on remand.

Wright claims that Judge Perry's denial of his 3.850 Brady claim regarding certain witness statements was based on a false view of the facts persented at the first evidentiary hearing. (IB 53). The "what Freddie Williams knew when" component of this issue is procedurally barred because it was raised and litigated in the initial Rule 3.850 proceeding. The same argument advanced in the lower court on remand, and in this Court on appeal, was throughly briefed and argued during the initial post-conviction proceeding. Defense Counsel devoted some four pages of the reply brief to this Clearly, this Court's specific adoption of the trial issue. court's order shows that this Court rejected the claim. See Wright, 581 So. 2d at 886. That current collateral counsel sought to have Mr. Williams testify that his testimony was, in fact, what he said at the previous hearing does not afford any basis for again raising an already decided issue that is well outside of the scope of the remand. See Kight v. State, 784 So. 2d 396 (Fla. 2001).

On appeal, Wright also charges that in denying his 3.850 motion, Judge Perry relied on the "false fact" that Henry Jackson and Clayton Strickland had passed polygraph tests. (IB 60-61). This component of the claim is also procedurally barred because it is beyond the scope of the remand. *Mendyk*. Attempting to support his own speculation, Wright points to the judge's conclusion that

"'Whether the [Brown, Luce, and Holt] statements were exculpatory in nature is highly speculative and, thus, the claim is legally insufficient to support a claim under <u>Brady</u>.'" (IB 61). As is readily apparent from reading the circuit judge's statement in context, there is absolutely no indication that Judge Perry was relying on the two men having passed a lie detector test when he determined that whether the statements of Brown, Luce, and Holt were exculpatory was speculative. Any claim to the contrary appears to be rank speculation on the part of current Collateral Counsel and should not be further considered by this Court.⁷

Moreover, if this claim was presented to Judge Nichols below, Collateral Counsel does not bother to so advise this Court in his brief, much less reveal what the judge had to say on the matter. Such barebones and shoddy pleading is legally insufficient on which to base any relief. *See Atwater v. State*, 788 So. 2d 223, 229 (Fla. 2001).

The final component of Wright's first issue on appeal is one

⁷

Collateral Counsel also speculates that "the sole basis for excluding them as suspects," apparently, the polygraphs, "was revealed to be nonexistent." (IB 61). One problem with this is that Wright also took and passed a polygraph, however, he very obviously was not excluded as a suspect. The State submits that there were reasons other than that Mr. Jackson and Mr. Strickland also passed a polygraph which resulted in their being excluded as suspects. That the passage of a polygraph was the main thing the witnesses asked in 1988 recalled five years after trial does not mean that it was the sole or only basis for excluding them at the time.

which he casts as a *Brady⁸* violation. The standard of review of a lower court's decision on a *Brady* claim is whether competent, substantial evidence supports the lower court's factual finding. *Way v. State*, 760 So. 2d 903, 911 (Fla. 2000), *cert. denied*, 121 S.Ct. 1104 (2001); *Stephens v. State*, 748 So. 2d 1028 (Fla. 1999).

Wright lists the statements of Brown, Luce, and Holt, various police reports of crimes which Mr. Jackson or Mr. Strickland may have been involved in, some criminal history of the two men, a decision not to prosecute Westberry for the scrap mental deals, the "script" given to Westberry, and various conclusions that could have been drawn from evidence, or the lack thereof, as the undisclosed Brady material at issue. (IB 65-68). The State submits that conclusions that could be drawn from evidence, or the lack of evidence, are not covered by Brady. Moreover, the alleged "script" has been thoroughly litigated in the prior proceedings on the 3.850 motion and decided adversely to Wright. Wright, 581 So. 2d at 884. Likewise, the issue regarding the statements of Luce, Brown, and Holt were litigated and decided adversely to Wright in the prior proceedings. Id. at 883. Thus, none of these can provide a basis for relief herein. Thompson v. State, 759 So. 2d 650, 657 (Fla. 2000).

The only remaining matters concern some of the reports of

Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

criminal history involving Mr. Jackson and Mr. Strickland. "In order for an appellant to prevail on a **Brady** claim, the defendant must show, among other things, that there is a 'reasonable probability that had the evidence been disclosed to th defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different. Mills, 684 So.2d at 805'" Jennings v. State, 782 So. 2d 853, 858 (Fla. 2001). Specifically addressing a claim that this information regarding other suspects should have been disclosed, this Court said: "'If a defendant's purpose is to shift suspicion from himself to another person, evidence of past criminal conduct of that other person should be of such nature that it would be admissible if that person were on trial for the present offense." (citations omitted) *Id.* at 858-59. Even when such evidence "would have been admissible," no relief is warranted where "there is not a reasonable probability that . . . the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id. at 859. Producing evidence that other persons in the area had been accused of crimes unrelated to the instant one does not meet the burden of establishing a reasonable probability of a different result.⁹ See Jennings, 782 So. 2d at 859.

Collateral Counsel's claim that Judge Nichols employed the wrong standard when he held "it was Mr. Wright['s] burden to use the previously undisclosed evidence to prove that the result of the trial would have been different" is obviously incorrect in light of the plain language of *Jennings* to the contrary.

Moreover, as this Court said in *Jennings*, to prevail, Wright has to show not only a probability of a different result, but "other things." Among those "other things" is the requirement that Wright show that the undisclosed evidence could not have been found by Wright's counsel had he/she exercised due diligence. As Wright admits, Judge Nichols concluded that all of the undisclosed information could have been found with the exercise of due diligence. (IB 62). The State submits that the standard of appellate review becomes whether there is competent substantial evidence supporting Judge Nichols' decision on the diligence issue. *Jones v. State*, 709 So. 2d 512, 514 (Fla. 1998), *cert. denied*, 523 U.S. 1040 (1998).

The record is replete with such evidence. It includes:

1) Mr. Jackson and Mr. Strickland were members of the immediate community of the victim and of Wright, throughout which the defense "did a neighborhood interview . . ." (PCR1 980).¹⁰ Many of the police reports came from members of this community. "The fact that police reports existed on these persons . . . could have been discovered by the trial team." (R 1139).

 Captain Miller offered the information on other suspects which had been excluded by law enforcement to Attorney Pearl, who declined it. (R 2419).

[&]quot;PCR1" refers to the record on appeal from the first proceeding on Wright's 3.850 motion.

3) "The defense team knew of these gentlemen [Jackson and Strickland] well before trial." (R 1139). Certainly, they could have run criminal background checks on them, and the reports and information now alleged to be newly discovered would have been found. Thus, there is competent substantial evidence supporting Judge Nichols' conclusion that the reports and criminal history information could have been found before trial with the exercise of due diligence. The circuit court's order should be upheld.

Collateral Counsel then lists a number of complaints that he has with the services Mr. Pearl provided Wright. (IB 69-70). Besides being beyond the scope of the remand, these matters were also litigated and decided adversely to Wright in the first round of the 3.850 proceedings. *See Wright*, 581 So. 2d 882. Thus, they are procedurally barred in this proceeding. *See Thompson*, 759 So. 2d at 657. Moreover, they are without merit for the reasons stated in the State's pleadings and argument in the prior proceeding.

Finally, none of the allegations, for example, other suspects, the "script," the incomplete disclosure of the deal with Westberry, the glass jar, the Walter Perkins' claim, etc., constitute error alone, and therefore, there is no error to cumulate. *Downs v. State*, 740 So. 2d 506, 509 n.5 (Fla. 1999). *See Asay v. State*, 769 So. 2d 974 (Fla. 2000). Moreover, to the extent that Wright claims that cumulative error at trial adversly affected the outcome of his proceedings, the claim is procedurally defaulted because it should

have been raised on direct appeal. See Occhicone v. State, 768 So. 2d 1037, 1040 n.3 (Fla. 2000). The only claim that may be regarded as error is that Kathy Waters should have been permitted to testify. However, her testimony could have hurt Wright just as much, if not more than, it would have helped him. To the extent that Ms. Waters' testimony identified Wright as the late night walker going toward Mr. Westberry's place, it put him close to the crime scene at the approximate time of the victim's death. In any event, this Court found that error harmless. 473 So. 2d at 1280-81. There is nothing to cumulate with this single harmless error. Wright is entitled to no relief.

ARGUMENT II

WRIGHT HAS FAILED TO CARRY HIS BURDEN TO ESTABLISH THAT TRIAL COUNSEL'S STATUS AS A SPECIAL DEPUTY AFFECTED HIS PERFORMANCE ON WRIGHT'S BEHALF OR THAT ANY EFFECT ON PERFORMANCE RESULTED IN INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL; NEITHER HAS HE SHOWN THAT DEFENSE COUNSEL'S INVESTIGATOR RENDERED DEFICIENT AND PREJUDICIAL PERFORMANCE DUE TO HIS STATUS AS A BONDED DEPUTY.

Wright complains that his "defense team," consisting of Attorney Howard Pearl and Investigator Freddie Williams, "was burdened with an undisclosed conflict that interfered with the defense's ability to represent Mr. Wright." (IB 82). He bases this on the claim that Mr. Pearl was a special deputy in Marion, Volusia, and Lake Counties, and Mr. Williams held that status in Putnam County. (IB 83, 84).

Wright implies that he was prejudiced by the status of his defense team when "Mr. Pearl apologized to Walter Perkins in front of the jury during his cross-examination after Mr. Perkins denied having a bad relationship with the Wright family." (IB 85). He charges that Mr. Pearl "allowed his loyalty to the State to overshadow his responsibility to Mr. Wright by abandoning his effort to impeach Walter Perkins" (IB 85). He also complains that Mr. Pearl "blindly accepted Captain Miller's assurance that Henry Jackson had been eliminated as a dead lead." (IB 85-86). He then claims that Mr. Pearl and Mr. Williams "abandon[ed] any challenge to law enforcement's investigation . .

. out of loyalty to the Sheriff's Office." (IB 86).

The standard of appellate review where a Rule 3.850 motion has been denied after an evidentiary hearing is whether competent, substantial evidence supports the trial court's findings. *Melendez v. State*, 718 So. 2d 746, 747 (Fla. 1998); *Blanco v. State*, 702 So. 2d 1250, 1252 (Fla. 1997). This Court will not substitute its judgment for that of the lower court on factual determinations, including credibility of witnesses and weight given to factual evidence presented below. *Id.* Thus, where the lower court correctly applied the law to factual findings supported by substantial, competent evidence, the lower court's ruling will be upheld.

The Freddie Williams as Special Deputy component of this claim is beyond the scope of the remand, and so, is not properly before this Honorable Court. See Mendyk v. State, 707 So. 2d 320, 322 (Fla. 1997). See also Jennings v. State, 782 So. 2d 853, 861 (Fla. 2001). This Court remanded this case for one issue only, i.e., "an evidentiary hearing on whether Wright's public defender's service as a special deputy sheriff affected his ability to provide effective legal assistance." Wright, 581 So. 2d at 887. Thus, the Freddie Williams component is procedurally barred.

In any event, Wright utterly failed to carry his burden to demonstrate that Howard Pearl's Special Deputy status affected his ability to provide effective legal assistance to Wright in this

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